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[Translation]

The Chair (Mr. John Williamson (New Brunswick South-
west, CPC)): I call the meeting to order.

Welcome to meeting number 70 of the House of Commons
Standing Committee on Public Accounts.

[English]

Pursuant to Standing Order 108(2) and the motion adopted by the
committee on Monday, April 24, 2023, the committee resumes its
study of the Pierre Elliott Trudeau Foundation.

Before 1 welcome our witnesses, I have Madame Sinclair-Des-
gagné.

[Translation]

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné (Terrebonne, BQ): I have a
point of order, Mr. Chair. I'm looking for some confirmation from
you and the clerks regarding this excerpt from the House of Com-
mons Procedure and Practice:

Under normal circumstances, witnesses before House committees are not sworn

in. It is generally accepted that witnesses have a duty to speak the truth regard-
less of whether or not their testimony is given under oath....

Although the testimony of a witness before a parliamentary committee is pro-
tected by parliamentary privilege, if a committee determines that a witness has
wilfully lied or misled it, the matter could be reported to the House. If the House
finds that the witness has deliberately misled the committee, the witness could
be found in contempt of the House whether the witness is under oath or not.

Is that correct?

The Chair: The clerks are confirming that it is correct, Ms. Sin-
clair-Desgagné.
[English]

Thank you.

I'd like to welcome five witnesses today.

Anita Biguzs is a retired federal public servant. Graham Flack is
currently secretary of the Treasury Board of Canada and a former
deputy minister of Canadian Heritage. Daniel Jean is a former
deputy minister. John Knubley is joining us by video conference
and is a former deputy minister. Morris Rosenberg is a retired
deputy minister.

Thank you all for coming.

I believe I'm expecting opening statements from two individuals,
Mr. Knubley and Mr. Rosenberg. If others have opening statements,
please let me know, and I'll be happy to include you. Please limit

your opening remarks to five minutes, although you'll find I'm a
flexible chair, so if you do go over, I won't bang the gavel, because
I don't like to cut off witnesses.

I'm going to begin with Mr. Knubley for five minutes, please.

Mr. John Knubley (As an Individual): Thank you for having
me today. I was advised in advance of this meeting that I needed
opening remarks; however, I will be brief.

My name's John Knubley, and I am a former deputy minister of
industry in ISED. I served in that role from 2012-19. Of course, I'm
speaking as an individual today, not as a representative of a depart-
ment or government. I will do my best to assist the committee,
based on my recollection of the facts.

The Trudeau Foundation is an agency that was, and I believe
continues to be, part of the ministry's broad portfolio of organiza-
tions. During my time, the responsibility of monitoring its activities
fell to the science sector, or branch, in the department, and I believe
it still does. I believe I was always briefed that the foundation was
designed at the outset in 2001 to be an independent, stand-alone
agency, consistent with the Canada Not-for-profit Corporations Act.

The board, therefore, has responsibility for oversight of its own
operations, with a fiduciary responsibility. The science sector at
ISED, or Industry, derived its mandate for monitoring the Trudeau
Foundation from its role in supporting excellence in universities,
scholars and research activities across the country.

I understand the committee has questions about a meeting of
deputy ministers and Trudeau Foundation scholars at the Privy
Council Office in 2016. What I recall—and this is based on my
memory—is that I was invited to the meeting; however, I also re-
member that I chose not to attend as other priorities arose.

I look forward to your questions.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

Mr. Rosenberg, the floor is now yours, please.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg (As an Individual): Thank you, Mr.
Chair.

I served under both Conservative and Liberal governments for 15
years as deputy minister variously of justice, health and foreign af-
fairs. Since retiring from the public service, I've served as president
of the Pierre Elliott Trudeau Foundation, as an adviser on policy
and on various boards.
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I wish to first address my presence, when I was president of the
foundation, at a meeting with public servants that occurred in April
2016 in what was then the Langevin Block. One of the reasons I
agreed to serve at the foundation is my belief that there's a public
interest in strengthening exchanges between academic researchers
and policy-makers. Academic research should be known to policy-
makers, and as a deputy minister I often reached out to and met
with academics. It's equally important that academics be exposed to
the practical realities of policy-making.

At the foundation, one of our fellows and one of our mentors had
begun a project in early 2016 to determine whether there were eco-
nomic benefits to diversity. I knew that diversity and pluralism
were priorities for the government at the time, and I suggested to a
deputy secretary at the Privy Council Office that a meeting with of-
ficials would provide an opportunity to share perspectives on this
issue.

That's the genesis of the meeting that was reported on in the me-
dia. The PCO invited the relevant officials. The media reports em-
phasized the fact that the meeting took place in the Langevin Block,
which they thought was unusual because the Prime Minister's Of-
fice is located there.

That building not only serves as the Prime Minister's Office but
also houses the Privy Council Office, a part of the public service,
and is a central downtown location for public servants and others to
meet. Inviting people from outside government to meetings in this
building is not unusual. Accordingly, there was nothing at all un-
usual about the April 2016 meeting in the Langevin Block.

Next I want to address two points that have been raised in rela-
tion to the 2016 donation issue. It's been alleged that the company
to whom the tax receipt was issued, Millennium Golden Eagle
(Canada) Inc., is a shell company. I've had a look at the Quebec
government's Régistre des entreprises, and it points out that the
company is a going concern in the business of hotels, inns and real
property investment. I can provide you with that document.

Second, I wanted to provide some additional context to support
the view expressed by Alexandre Trudeau at the access to informa-
tion committee, by Ted Johnson and by me, that the donation has to
be assessed from the perspective of relations with China in an era
that's much different from the very negative one we're in today. In
the mid-2010s, Canadian universities, businesses and governments
all saw it as being in their interest to strengthen ties with China. I
think Prime Minister Harper captured the spirit of the time well in
2013, when he welcomed two Chinese pandas to Toronto. He said:

Over the coming years these pandas will help us learn more about one another

while serving as a reminder of our deepening relationship, a relationship based
on mutual respect and growing collaboration.

It was a different time.

There's been much concern expressed by some committee mem-
bers that one of the two donors was president of the China Cultural
Industry Association, due to its association with the Chinese gov-
ernment. This was well understood at the time the donation was be-
ing negotiated. When the China Cultural Industry Association was
established in 2013, Canada's ambassador to China wrote a con-
gratulatory letter to the chairman and members of that organization.

I have copies of that letter that I can provide to the committee, but
I'd like to cite three brief excerpts first:
It is fortuitous that, in many respects, your objectives and efforts align well with
ours at the Canadian Embassy in China. In fact, last year, when Prime Minister
Harper visited here, Canada and China agreed to hold a series of cultural activi-

ties in each other's countries in 2013 and 2014, in an effort to raise our bilateral
engagement to a new level.

The second quote is as follows:

I'd like to note our deep gratitude for the CCIA's generous endowment to the
University of Toronto's Faculty of Medicine via the establishment of the
Bethune Fund.

Finally:

Given your strong commitment to cultural cooperation and exchange, the CCIA
will certainly serve as a leading platform for expanded Canada-China cultural
collaboration. We look forward to working closely with your association over
the coming months and years.

We have confidence that our government's representative in Chi-
na had Canada's interests at heart when he wrote this letter. The
China Cultural Industry Association was viewed as a positive col-
laborator by the Harper government. These were, indeed, very dif-
ferent times.

Within this context of warming relations, we believe that the
donors were motivated by a genuine desire to pay tribute to Pierre
Elliott Trudeau's legacy and their willingness to support the founda-
tion's program of policy conferences.

® (1110)

Conferences on the implications of the rise of China were consis-
tent with our core themes of Canada and the world and human
rights. The donors had no say on the content of these conferences,
an important consideration for the foundation.

We never thought that a $200,000 donation for conferences could
or would influence any government. At no time did donors ask the
foundation to connect them with government officials or anything
else. The foundation never coordinated its activities with elected of-
ficials, either prior to or after the 2015 election.

Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Rosenberg.

I'll now turn to our first round of questioning.

Mr. Brock, you have the floor for six minutes, please.

Mr. Larry Brock (Brantford—Brant, CPC): Thank you,
Chair, and thank you to all the witnesses for your appearance today.

Largely, Mr. Rosenberg, you're going to be the beneficiary of my
questions today.

On May 2 you appeared before the ethics committee, and you
were asked by a Liberal member of that committee at that time
whether or not there had been any interference by the government
and the Prime Minister in connection with the donation we're talk-
ing about.

Your response was:
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I am not aware of any communication with the Prime Minister, his office, or oth-
er bodies within the government regarding this matter.

Further on, that same Liberal member.... Actually, it wasn't a Lib-
eral member. It was an NDP member. Mr. Green asked you this
question: “Ms. Fournier stated that she remembers reviewing
emails between the executive director, Elise Comtois, and the
PMO. Were you aware of these emails?”

Your response was:

I don't recall, but I will say, just to go back, that if there were emails and there
were documents that raised questions about this stuff, why didn't the foundation
management call me to at least get my view on it so I could see the stuff...

I just want to ask you a few questions regarding those statements,
because personally I find it incredible that you would say to the
committee that you weren't aware of any sort of communication be-
tween the foundation and the Prime Minister's Office, the PMO,
specifically when Pascale Fournier had indicated that there were
numerous emails going on between the foundation and the PMO.

Now, in terms of the organization chart, Ms. Elise Comtois was
the executive director, and she reported directly to you as president
of the foundation. Is that correct?

® (1115)
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: That is correct.

Mr. Larry Brock: Right, so I'm looking at one of those emails,
dated November 24, 2016, from Elise Comtois directly to Zita As-
travaz, an executive member of the Prime Minister's Office, and it
starts off as follows:

Hi Zita,

As requested—

That means requested by the PMO.

—please find below the key facts that we have been providing to the media who
have contacted us regarding the $200,000 donation from Bin Zhang and Niu
Gensheng:

You were saying to us, to the committee, then, as you're probably
going to say to me now, that you were absolutely not aware of that
particular piece of communication.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: 1 don't believe that piece of communi-
cation was in the package—the access package. Certainly, I was not
aware of it at the time that I gave this testimony. I think I said it
was possible that there was communication, asking—

Mr. Larry Brock: I'm sorry. With all due respect, you didn't say
it was possible. You said you weren't aware and that you were
shocked and wondered why, if there was communication, it wasn't
brought to your attention, so I'm asking the obvious question that
everyone has here: Really, what is going on at the foundation that a
person with the title of executive director, who has to report direct-
ly to you, is communicating directly with the PMO?

Let's remember: The Prime Minister is on record, as is his gov-
ernment, numerous times, stating in the House that there was a fire-
wall at all times between him and the government and the founda-
tion. This strikes definitely against that particular narrative.

Why was that happening, and why were you not aware?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: First of all, this happened eight years
ago.

Second of all, part of my answer was, if there were records at the
foundation that demonstrated this, why, in the weeks leading up to
the resignations, did nobody contact me?

Madame Fournier was not at the foundation while these events
happened. I was, but I had no idea what was going on at the foun-
dation, and I would have—

Mr. Larry Brock: That is negligence, sir, pure and simple.
That's absolutely—

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Well, that is your view, and I disagree
with it.

I was at the foundation. Rather than deciding to resign—I don't
know why they resigned—I think it would have been helpful if
someone had called me and asked me to come in and talk about
this, because I think there is a very innocent set of explanations for
everything that went on in relation to this donation.

Mr. Larry Brock: Okay, sir, | have to move on. Thank you.

Pascale Fournier testified at the ethics committee. She said that
her predecessor, Morris Rosenberg, told the National Post in De-
cember 2016 that the foundation didn't consider the donation to be
foreign money, because it was made by a company incorporated in
Canada.

She told MPs that this was actually a statement “in the annual re-
port...when in fact the tax receipt itself mentions China.” She said,
“I think this is something that is misleading to Canadians.”

Now, with respect to the documentation that this committee or
other committees have received from the foundation, I was privy to
a business banking statement from the foundation. This is from the
Bank of Montreal in regard to the first installment that was received
on July 25, 2016, and I would well imagine that your response is
going to be, “Well, I'm the president. I didn't see these statements,
so I took it at face value that this was a Canadian donation,” when
in fact it's clearly spelled out, Mr. Rosenberg, that on July 25 this
was an international donation. It's clearly stated in black and white
that it's an international donation credit to the credit of the founda-
tion at the Bank of Montreal for $70,000.

You're not aware of this particular banking statement. Is that cor-
rect, sir?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I'm not aware of this particular banking
statement. | don't believe it was part of the package. There was an
allegation of a discrepancy between the name on the tax receipt and
the name that was put into the annual report, and I was basically ac-
cused of misleading Canadians in this regard. What's the nature of
the deception?

We acknowledged that two wealthy Chinese businessmen, in-
stead of a corporate vehicle, through which they made the payment,
actually were instrumental in this. I think we did this in a way that
was more transparent than if we had put the name of the Millenni-
um corporation into the report. The annual report is very forthright
about the fact that there are Chinese donors behind the donation—
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Mr. Larry Brock: Did you share this document with CRA?
The Chair: Mr. Brock, I'm afraid that is your time.

Mr. Rosenberg, I think we're going to pick this up again. I appre-
ciate it.

We're going to turn now to Mr. Sidhu.

Mr. Sidhu, you are joining us virtually. It's good to see you, sir.
You have the floor for six minutes, please.

Mr. Maninder Sidhu (Brampton East, Lib.): Thank you, Mr.
Chair, and thanks to our witnesses for taking the time to be with us
here this morning.

Mr. Rosenberg, 1'd like to start off by thanking you for your ser-
vice to Canada. For those watching these proceedings at home, it's
important to note that Mr. Rosenberg has served in very senior po-
sitions, as deputy minister and in other senior positions in both
Conservative and Liberal-led governments, including as deputy
minister of foreign affairs.

Mr. Rosenberg also received the Order of Canada in 2015 for his
commitment to our country, and I know many members on this
committee are grateful for his service.

Mr. Rosenberg, my question is directed to you. As someone who
has been involved with the Pierre Elliott Trudeau Foundation for a
number of years, would you be able to provide a summary of the
foundation's mandate and how its mandate and operations have
evolved over the years? I think it's important for those listening to
know this.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: The foundation has been in operation
since the early 2000s. I believe that Mr. Johnson was at this com-
mittee the other day and said it has spent over $90 million support-
ing Ph.D. scholars and academic fellows. It's a unique program that
brings together some of the most brilliant scholars in the humanities
and social sciences, senior academics, as well as people from out-
side of the academic world, so that you have a kind of intergenera-
tional, intersectoral and interdisciplinary approach.

The way the foundation evolved...at least when 1 was there, |
thought it was very important that while we gave out very generous
scholarships that enabled these Ph.D. candidates to do well with re-
spect to their studies, the value-add of the foundation would be
their exposure to people from different walks of life and their expo-
sure to Canada.

We made a very significant effort every year to get people out to
remote places in the country to meet people who were not aca-
demics, to meet ordinary Canadians, business people, students. We
had a program whereby we had scholars and fellows going into
high schools, talking to students about their research in a way that
they could understand and also as a way of getting some people to
dream a little about what they themselves might accomplish.

A lot of our scholars came from very disadvantaged back-
grounds. We had one who was homeless and almost landed in
prison. He pulled his life together and became a Ph.D. student at
the University of Toronto. I believe he was mentioned at another
committee—lJesse Thistle.

There's another one whose family came from Ghana when he
was eight years old and was very, very poor. He was living in social
housing in Toronto. When he grew up, he ended up with a Ph.D. in
history from Yale, taught at Harvard, is now teaching at McGill and
has just won an award for the best teacher.

There are some really inspiring stories coming out of the founda-
tion. I think it has done stellar work.

One of the other things we wanted to do was to ensure that the
scholars we had understood how government worked. We had the
opportunity to meet with public servants and with people in the Li-
brary of Parliament to learn how to engage with Parliament, for ex-
ample, and to provide a rounding experience for them.

I hope that answers your question.

Mr. Maninder Sidhu: Thank you for that, and thanks for the de-
tails in your response.

You spoke about people from all walks of life. Now, when schol-
ars are vetted by the foundation, are they vetted according to their
partisan or ideological leanings? Is that taken into account?

® (1125)
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Not at all.
Mr. Maninder Sidhu: That's good to know.

How many students have been supported by this foundation and
the wonderful work that the foundation does?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I am not 100% sure. Mr. Johnson had
the number at his fingertips last week. I think it is something like
290, but I'm not sure.

Mr. Maninder Sidhu: Thank you.

In terms of the $125 million endowment, is that the primary
source of the foundation's revenue? Are there other sources of rev-
enue?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: The primary source is indeed the en-
dowment. Of course, the condition under which it receives the en-
dowment is that the foundation can't spend the capital. It has to live
off the interest.

Again, Mr. Johnson mentioned last week that the capital has now
increased to somewhere around $147,000, I believe. In addition,
there are some donations, but not many. The biggest donation was
one made by the McCall MacBain Foundation back in about 2016.

Mr. Maninder Sidhu: Thank you.

How big was that donation?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I think overall it was about $3 million,
but I'm not sure.

Mr. Maninder Sidhu: My last question, sir, is in regard to when
the Pierre Elliott Trudeau Foundation was created. Did all political
parties support the creation of this foundation?
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Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I believe that all parties did, other than
the Bloc Québécois.

Mr. Maninder Sidhu: Thank you very much.

Thanks, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: Thank you very much.

[Translation]

Ms. Sinclair-Desgagné, go ahead. You have six minutes.
Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Good morning to the witnesses.

Mr. Rosenberg, do you recall signing tax receipts for donations
that were received in several payments from the company Millenni-
um Golden Eagle International?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I acknowledge signing them, but I don't
recall the details.

I'm going to switch to English to explain, if you don't mind.
[English]

There are a lot of questions about why no red flags were raised
when I signed the receipt with a Chinese address. From the docu-
ments that were released under access to information, it would ap-
pear that no concerns were raised by the employees preparing the
receipts, and no concerns were raised by me either, so how could
that be?

First, the foundation has controls in place to deal with this very
administrative matter of signing receipts, and I rely on them, but
second, the way the questions have been asked, it's as though there
is an expectation that I would have blocked off a significant amount
of time to examine the receipts from this donation. While I can't re-
produce the exact circumstances, it was more likely someone say-
ing to me, “Here's a pile of the correspondence for your signature,”
and I would have quickly gone through it, focusing my attention
more on the content of letters that we were sending out, rather than
on a receipt.

[Translation]

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Mr. Rosenberg, you're a
lawyer. You know that you can't sign a document without reading it
first. That's law 101.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I didn't say that I didn't read the docu-
ments. I said that, in an organization, you have to prioritize.

I acknowledge that other things were going on at the time. Did I
take the time to examine every document in detail? Probably not.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: My next question is about just
that.

According to the testimony given by Ms. Fournier, staff at the
Pierre Elliott Trudeau Foundation were clearly instructed as to the
names that should appear on the receipts. Did you—

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I saw that in the documentation, and
this is how I interpret it.

We already know that Mr. Zhang has ties to the China Cultural
Industry Association. Mr. Zhang's employees were employees of

the association. I think it was about having someone who could
communicate with us in English.

Two things happened. First, foundation staff corresponded with
that individual in China to translate the thank you letter I sent to the
donor. Second—

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: You sent it in Mandarin, but
the person spoke English.

In the course of your career, have you often had to send letters in
Mandarin?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I didn't send the letter.
Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: You apparently signed it.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Yes, I signed it because I had been as-
sured that the content was a faithful translation of what we had
written in English. It was about sending the donor a document they
would be able to understand. They didn't speak English, so there
was correspondence regarding the translation and the address.

® (1130)

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Mr. Rosenberg, it's a Canadi-
an company, not a shell company, as you pointed out in your open-
ing statement. Why, then, send the company a letter in Mandarin?
Usually, you would send a Canadian company a letter in the lan-
guage spoken at the company.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No. I think the receipt was sent to the
company. The letter was sent to Zhang Bin and Niu Gensheng.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: 1 agree with you regarding the
tax receipts.

You're saying, though, that the donor is someone who speaks on-
ly Mandarin. The donation was made by Millennium Golden Eagle
International. Forgive me, but it's not at all clear.

If the donation came from the Canadian company Millennium
Golden Eagle International, why did you send a letter thanking a
third party who speaks only Mandarin?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I think the issue may have come up in
the committee that heard from Alexandre Trudeau.

My understanding is that it's not unusual for someone to ask a
company they run to issue a payment. I think that's what happened.

I have to say, I'm getting a lot of questions about the donors' ad-
dresses and identities, but I can't tell you exactly what happened.
Any concerns of that nature are precisely the kind of thing that an
independent review or an investigation by the Canada Revenue
Agency, or CRA, should look into. To do that, it's necessary—

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Do you agree that an indepen-
dent public inquiry should be held?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I want to make a distinction.
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On one hand, there's the whole issue of a public inquiry into for-
eign interference.

On the other, I think Blake Desjarlais asked Mr. Johnson the oth-
er day whether the Pierre Elliott Trudeau Foundation should be in-
cluded in that.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: 1 asked you a very specific
question. Do you agree? You just said that an independent public
inquiry should be held.

You're a lawyer, and you spent 34 years in the public service, so
you know that the appearance of a conflict of interest matters more
than the actual conflict of interest. If there is the appearance that the
Pierre Elliott Trudeau Foundation is being used for foreign interfer-
ence, those doubts have to be dispelled to ensure that Canada's
democracy functions smoothly.

Do you agree?
The Chair: I'll give you time to answer, Mr. Rosenberg.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I agree, but not necessarily about mak-
ing that investigation part of the broader inquiry into foreign inter-
ference. Allow me to explain.

I think it's important for the Pierre Elliott Trudeau Foundation
and its reputation that answers be provided sooner than it would
take to set up a public inquiry. I know that the foundation has initi-
ated a process with an independent law firm. The decision isn't up
to me, but I hope the details surrounding the situation can be
cleared up fairly quickly, because it's vitally important for the foun-
dation.

[English]

The Chair: Mr. Desjarlais, you have the floor for six minutes,
please. Over to you.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais (Edmonton Griesbach, NDP): Thank
you very much, Mr. Chair.

I also want to thank the witnesses for being present, particularly
Mr. Rosenberg. I apologize for not being there in person; I'm just
getting over a bit of a sinus issue.

I want to follow up on the questioning by my colleague from the
Bloc Québécois. She mentioned, and I'm sure you've heard this in
the past, my questions for one of your former colleagues, Edward
Johnson. I'm certain that you could probably anticipate some of my
questions in relation to the public inquiry or the need for an inde-
pendent inquiry, which I was pleased to hear you recommend in
your answers to one of my colleagues. That's where I'll focus some
of my attention.

Mr. Rosenberg, you've worked in the public service and you've
worked for Canadians. I appreciate that service. I want to extend
my thanks as well for that service. I want to get your advice, your
knowledge and your experience in relation to how we combat this
kind of perception of foreign interference. For example, my own
perspective is that we need to have a public inquiry for the purpose
of trying to combat the perception of a weakening democracy. |
think it's something Canadians right across the country feel as well.

I'll focus my questions directly on the need to address foreign in-
terference, on the role the Trudeau Foundation, or at least the me-

dia, has played in damaging the perception of our democracy, and
on ways we can get past this in a credible way to ensure that Cana-
dians can rebuild that confidence. I think that's an important
project, one that is worthwhile and that I think this committee could
assist .

I asked your former colleague Edward Johnson just last week
whether he would support a call by the Auditor General to investi-
gate the Trudeau Foundation. He responded positively and said that
he had actually sent a letter to the Auditor General at that time to
request an audit. It was received by our committee, and we received
a letter from the Auditor General that made it clear she wasn't able
to do that. In reference to that fact, I tabled a motion that called on
the CRA, the Canada Revenue Agency, to begin an investigation
for this committee. It passed, and I was pleased to see that. I was
pleased to hear your remarks in relation to this.

Do you still agree that the CRA should investigate the Trudeau
Foundation?

® (1135)

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: The CRA decides what it's going to do.
I saw briefly some of the testimony from CRA senior officials here.
I think Mr. Johnson said, yeah, okay; if the CRA wants to look at
the Trudeau Foundation, that would probably be desirable at this
point, because there's been so much noise and so much smoke
raised about this that there has to be some sort of a process to sort it
out.

With all due respect, it's not going to happen at a parliamentary
committee. There's just a lot of partisanship within a parliamentary
committee. It's going to have to be another process.

The CRA is one way of doing it, and I'm not saying they're mu-
tually exclusive. What the Trudeau Foundation is trying to do now
with an independent forensic audit by a firm it has no association
with, as I understand, is another way of doing it. There are ongoing
discussions—I read the newspapers—between representatives of all
the political parties on what the way forward is after Mr. Johnston's
resignation.

I wonder, given some of the issues.... I'm not saying the Trudeau
Foundation issue doesn't need to be looked at. It absolutely does,
but there are a lot of issues that need to be looked at in terms of
foreign interference: bullying and intimidation of expat popula-
tions, hostage diplomacy, trade sanctions and the kinds of censor-
ship practices that are alleged to have been carried out by the Con-
fucius Institutes. These are quite different from what we were look-
ing at in terms of this “gift” to put on conferences. We could have
put on a conference about Tiananmen Square, and these guys would
not have had a word to say about it. It's a pretty weird influence op-
eration, because it likely would have ended up embarrassing the
Chinese.
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They started off saying, “Let's do scholarships.” Scholarships are
a much lower-risk proposition than conferences. Even if the confer-
ences had a benign name, I know the people in the Trudeau Foun-
dation. They would not have let human rights go. They would not
have let climate change go. You would have had a very robust dis-
cussion, and it's not something the Chinese would have wanted to
hear, so I thought this was actually great.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: That's interesting.

Mr. Rosenberg, those ideas aside, I think it's important that a
public, independent inquiry.... You mentioned an independent in-
quiry, which I agree with. I believe in a public, independent inquiry.

When I asked Mr. Johnston that question, he responded that he
didn't believe a public inquiry was something he would agree with.

Do you agree with Mr. Johnston about that?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: My main point is that I would like to
see whatever is done with respect to the Trudeau Foundation done
quickly, because I think the Trudeau Foundation needs certainty to
be able to move ahead.

We are discussing this in public. This committee—

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: With all due respect, Mr. Rosenberg, what
the Trudeau Foundation needs is independent of what Canadians
need, so your request for a quick time for that investigation doesn't
seem to me to be an important factor as to why this public inquiry
is important.

I believe a public inquiry is important, but not because of the ex-
pediency required by the Trudeau Foundation in order to continue
its business. It's important because Canadians need to have robust
confidence in our democratic system. That is why I believe in a
public, independent inquiry.

I understand the work by Mr. Johnston to have his own commis-
sion on that, but it's something I still believe is important. I will
continue to ask you in my follow-up about why you believe a pub-
lic inquiry is something that's so different from an independent in-
quiry, and why you won't agree.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Desjarlais.

Mr. Rosenberg, if you have a brief response, I will hear it, please.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I want to acknowledge that you have
been very passionate about this. Virtually all of your questions to
Ted Johnson were about this.

In the final analysis, it's not the Trudeau Foundation that's going
to decide how this is going to go forward. The content of the large
public inquiry is going to be decided in discussions between the
representatives of all the parties.

We will see where it comes out. If it happens that it's part of a
public inquiry, then the Trudeau Foundation will deal with it.
® (1140)

The Chair: Thank you very much. I will turn now to our next
round.

Mr. Brock, you have the floor for five minutes, please.

Mr. Larry Brock: Thank you, Chair.

Mr. Rosenberg, would you agree with me that the foundation
prides itself on its highest ethical and moral standards?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Yes.
Mr. Larry Brock: Okay.

Would you agree with me, sir, that in the last couple of years,
that perception has been rocked a bit? First, we had the Beijing in-
fluence. We have the questionable donation to the foundation. Most
recently, we have a $1.25-million lawsuit launched by a former
scholar of the foundation, involving a mentor.

You would agree with me that this sort of compromises its over-
all image.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: It's certainly not helpful.
Mr. Larry Brock: No.

Mr. Rosenberg, I would like to ask you some questions.

This lawsuit was launched March 31, 2022. I understand that the
foundation has yet to file a defence.

Is that your understanding?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I'm not sure, because I'm not a defen-
dant in this lawsuit.

Mr. Larry Brock: I see.

To your knowledge, sir, is there a concurrent criminal investiga-
tion as well?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I have no knowledge of that.
Mr. Larry Brock: Okay.

Now I'm going to ask you some questions regarding some of the
commentary within the statement of claim itself.

According to the plaintiff, she reported the harassment to the
foundation and was immediately disbelieved.

Specifically, sir, she brought this to your attention on June 11,
2018.

You contacted her and requested to speak with her in relation to
the allegation. On June 22, you spoke by phone. During the call, it's
reported that you accused the plaintiff of “blowing things out of
proportion.” You questioned her about the incidents, “demanding to

(L8]

know if it was a 'familiar squeeze', a 'sexual squeeze' or a 'caress.”’.

Do you recall making that statement?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Are you reading from the plaintiff's
statement of claim?

Mr. Larry Brock: I am indeed.
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No defence has yet been filed.
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Mr. Larry Brock: I'm asking, do you acknowledge—

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No, I do not.

Mr. Larry Brock: Do you acknowledge speaking with the plain-
tiff—

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I do.

Mr. Larry Brock: —in and around that time frame regarding
this allegation?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Yes, but [ don't—

Mr. Larry Brock: You deny telling her that you did not believe
her, or—

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Absolutely.

Mr. Larry Brock: —questioning her with respect to the allega-
tions.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I asked her, but I certainly didn't deny
what she was saying.

Mr. Larry Brock: Okay.

Do you deny that the foundation, including several board mem-
bers, pressured this plaintiff into signing a non-disclosure agree-
ment, not once but on two occasions?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I can't speak to that, because I believe
those things happened after I left the foundation.

Mr. Larry Brock: Okay.

During the time when you were the president of the foundation—
because you signed the agreement between this particular plaintiff
and the mentor—I understand that there was no sexual harassment
policy in place at the foundation. Is that correct?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: That's correct. There were no sexual ha-
rassment policies in a lot of organizations. As we started to learn
more—

Mr. Larry Brock: I'm not talking about other organizations, sir.
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Yes. I answered—

Mr. Larry Brock: With all due respect, I'm talking about the
Trudeau Foundation—

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I answered your question.

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan (Chateauguay—Lacolle, Lib.): On a
point of order, Chair, this is outside the scope of this study. I think
it's very inappropriate for this line of questioning to continue. This
is not a courtroom. This is a committee, and I believe it's entirely
inappropriate—

Mr. Garnett Genuis (Sherwood Park—Fort Saskatchewan,
CPCQ): He's asking about sexual harassment.

The Chair: Mr. Genuis, thank you.
Ms. Shanahan, the questions are being asked forcibly but re-
spectfully. Mr. Rosenberg is answering them. I'm going continue to

allow Mr. Brock his line of questioning. As you know, I give mem-
bers latitude to ask questions, provided they are respectful.

Mr. Brock, you have the floor again.

Mr. Larry Brock: Before I was interrupted, sir, on a point of or-
der that was not really a point of order, I asked you about focusing
your responses on the foundation.

Now, you signed the agreement. There was no sexual harassment
policy for the scholar and no sexual harassment policy for the men-
tor. Is that correct?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: There was no sexual harassment poli-
cy—that is correct.

Mr. Larry Brock: Do you acknowledge that the foundation is
doing everything within its legal mandate to block this case from
being heard? It was originally brought in British Columbia; then it
was brought to Newfoundland, where the allegations allegedly are
to have occurred, and now the foundation is suggesting that this be
litigated in the province of Quebec. Do you acknowledge that the
foundation is doing that to her as well?

® (1145)

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: 1 have not worked for the foundation
since 2018, and I'm not familiar with all the strategies the founda-
tion is using.

Mr. Larry Brock: Are you not familiar with the news stories
that are coming out with respect to these allegations, sir? Have you
not been privy to that?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Well, I have seen the news stories.

Mr. Larry Brock: You haven't been speaking to current board
members about this allegation.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No.
Mr. Larry Brock: Okay.

During your tenure, sir, there was some questionable activity sur-
rounding your dismissal. Was this in relation to how poorly you
handled this complaint?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I addressed this at the other committee,
so let me talk about this for a second, if you don't mind, because
this really goes to my reputation. There was an intimation at the
committee that I was fired. The chair of the other committee asked
Madame Fournier whether I was fired. She said, gee, [ don't know. I
would suggest that she knows very well.

Here's what happened. I had a four-year contract with the foun-
dation that ended in 2018. I lived in Ottawa and was commuting
back and forth. In April 2017, more than a year before I was sup-
posed to leave, I told the chair that I did not want to renew my con-
tract. I had very good evaluations all through, and I gave him more
than a year's notice because I wanted the foundation to have the op-
portunity to have a proper process to find a successor, which they
did, and they found Madame Fournier to be the successor.

Madame Fournier and I then had an opportunity of overlap for
several weeks, to get her accustomed to the foundation. I was abso-
lutely not fired. There was a very nice going-away party for me, a
very nice gift that I got from some of the directors—

Mr. Garnett Genuis: [/naudible—Editor)

The Chair: Mr. Genuis, that's not necessary.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No. No, that's another gift.
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The Chair: Mr. Rosenberg, I appreciate the answer, and I'm sure
we'll come back to this.

I'm going to turn now to Ms. Yip.

You have the floor for five minutes.

Ms. Jean Yip (Scarborough—Agincourt, Lib.): Thank you,
Chair, and thank you to all the witnesses for coming.

Mr. Rosenberg, did you want to finish any thoughts on the previ-
ous question?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I appreciate your asking, because some-
times there are questions that come right at the end and I can't actu-
ally finish answering.

I was not fired from the foundation. That is absolutely false. |
chose the timing of my departure, and I tried to be as decent about
it as I possibly could.

Ms. Jean Yip: In your opening statement, you seemed to men-
tion that there was a donation in question that we're all talking
about. It seemed positive, the intention, to really foster a relation-
ship with the Canadian government, which was the Harper govern-
ment at that time, through supporting post-secondary studies. Could
you provide any comment on that, and could you provide that letter
that you mentioned you would be able to give us?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Yes, I will provide a copy of the letter. |
don't know what the procedure is in this committee—in the other
committee | wasn't allowed to provide paper—but I will.

The letter came off the website of the China Cultural Industry
Association. If you go to the website, you will find a lot of informa-
tion. There are a whole bunch of congratulatory letters from people
all over the world, but including a number of people in Canada—
from the Government of Quebec, for example, and others. I don't
have a full list of them here. They were well known and I don't de-
ny that they had links with the government in China. However, |
think everybody understood that we were dealing with a Chinese
Communist government.

From what I understand, whether it was Chinese state-owned
corporations like CNOOC, which purchased Nexen Energy for $15
billion—that's not an independent private corporation, that is a cor-
poration controlled by the Communist Party in China—everybody
had their eyes open to doing business with China. However, we all
felt back then that it was worth the trouble, given that China was
the rising superpower in the world.

I think slowly—and it was slowly—we started to realize that this
relationship was very difficult. You started to see, in the mid-2010s,
intellectual property theft, dual-use research that was being done,
and questions about whether universities were being diligent
enough in looking at these things. At the same time, we were still
doing cultural things with China, even as late as 2017.

I found an article in University Affairs by the rector at the Uni-
versity of Ottawa, saying everybody should be doing research with
China. In 2015, you had UBC announcing a major research project
with China.

The penny really dropped for us with the hostage-taking of the
two Michaels, and then we realized, boy, we're in a different world.

With the wolf warrior diplomacy, the way these people are treating
the Uyghurs, the way they're dealing with Hong Kong, this is not
what we thought we were dealing with. I think it changed our per-
ception.

® (1150)

Ms. Jean Yip: Diaspora communities are unfairly stigmatized as
a result of this debate, as people conflate Chinese Canadians and
the PRC.

What can we do to make a clear distinction...and ensure that we
are protecting all Canadians?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I agree that this is a problem.

First of all, there has to be an opportunity for these people to be
able to tell their story. Whatever process comes out of these negoti-
ations among the parties, I really hope that diaspora communities
are given a voice. I know there's an association of people from
Hong Kong who have been very vocal.

However, it's also true with respect to Iranian citizens and per-
haps Indian citizens, and even expat Russians. Anybody who has
family left behind in an authoritarian state may be vulnerable to ha-
rassment because of what can be done to their families. These
things need to be understood and looked at.

We also want to find ways of protecting them. We protect them
by being perhaps a bit more proactive than we have been, on the
issue, say, of the Chinese police stations. Now the government has
started to do that and started to expel them and expel some of the
diplomats. We have to stand up for ourselves.

Ms. Jean Yip: I'd like to ask all of you, during your time at the
foundation, were donations received from any other foreign coun-
tries, and how was that handled?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I don't think any of my fellow witnesses
were at the foundation, so maybe I'll answer the question.

Well, there were other.... First of all, this was not a foreign dona-
tion, although we have a debate about that. The biggest foreign do-
nation was from the chair of the foundation, John McCall MacBain,
who is a Canadian living in Geneva. His foundation is a Swiss-
based foundation. There were some other smaller donations, but
nothing at all of this magnitude. Certainly, there were no other Chi-
nese—

The Chair: Thank you.

I'm going to leave it there, because you answered the question
and the time has expired. It's something that we can come back to.

[Translation]

Go ahead, Ms. Sinclair-Desgagné. You have two and a half min-
utes.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Thank you, Mr. Chair.
I'd like to follow up on my earlier questions.

There's a major discrepancy between your testimony and
Ms. Fournier's. At least you acknowledge that, which is a first step.
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Ms. Fournier stated that people based in China and foundation
staff were in contact regarding the information that should appear
on the tax receipts. Did you know that?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Yes, I did, because some of the docu-
ments in the 160 pages provide—

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Did you know at the time?
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: You were the president and
CEO, but you didn't know that your employees were taking instruc-
tions from Beijing.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No, I didn't know. As I said, the foun-
dation had people who were responsible for handling the whole do-
nation and receipt process. From my standpoint, we didn't have
those discussions. In fact, it's clear from the documents that I wasn't
even copied on the emails.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Usually, you should know
what your staff are doing. That's CEO leadership 101.

When there was—

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I relied on my employees to carry out
their role in the foundation. As the CEO of an organization that
doesn't necessarily have a large staff and who has a huge workload,
you have to decide where to focus your energy, so you rely on your
employees.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Very good.

The donation was made by two donors in Beijing, but a different
name appeared on the tax receipt. You didn't know what your em-
ployees were doing, but had you known at the time, would it have
been acceptable to you?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: To be honest, I didn't have a chance to
think about it at the time. The important thing to me was that the
receipt was issued to the legal entity that made the donation. That is
the only party—

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: You think it's acceptable to
put a different name on the tax receipt even though the CRA con-
siders it wrong?

® (1155)
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: It's for the CRA to tell us that some-
thing's wrong.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: It's the law, and you know it.
You can't take a donation from one person and issue the tax receipt
to another.

You were the president and CEO, so would you have rebuked
your employees for doing that?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: My understanding is that the receipt
was given to the person who made the donation, so the Canadian
subsidiary of Millennium Golden Eagle International.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: However, the donation was
made by donors in China.

The Chair: You're out of time, Ms. Sinclair-Desgagné. Thank
you.

[English]

Mr. Desjarlais, you have the floor for two and a half minutes. Go
ahead, please.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

I also want to continue on something, Mr. Rosenberg, you men-
tioned previously regarding the relationship the foundation had,
during your time there as CEO, and the nature of the government's
intentions with China. You mentioned two examples that I think are
fair to mention. One was former prime minister Harper's intention
to invite pandas as a symbol of goodwill and a growing relation-
ship. You also mentioned, of course, under that same regime of the
Conservatives, the purchasing of Canadian oil assets. Those are two
examples, especially under the Conservative government, that
would of course demonstrate the will of both the Conservatives and
the operating government now and their intention to further devel-
op a relationship with China.

You mentioned of course that it was all turned on its head when
the two Michaels became a situation. That was of course devastat-
ing to Canadians and may in fact have been devastating to many
folks within the civil service. From your experience, especially
when you were there as president and CEO, you mentioned it was
part of the culture, let's say, of the government and that the Trudeau
Foundation was participating in that culture of trying to build a re-
lationship with China. You also mentioned in your first round of
questioning that when the Trudeau Foundation accepted the dona-
tion, it could have hosted a conference on something like Tianan-
men Square, for example. That's something you said in the testimo-
ny here.

Just in light of that, wouldn't it have been enough for the Chi-
nese, at least for that project, to see that conference take place and
then refuse to donate to the Trudeau Foundation in the future?
Wouldn't that constitute a kind of jeopardization of the foundation's
goals, particularly within the culture at that time?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: That's a very hypothetical question, and
I don't know, but I can tell you this. I would assume that the title of
a conference would probably have been more neutral. We were do-
ing this with the Universit¢ de Montréal law school. They were
very interested in the rule of law. Let's assume we had a conference
on the rule of law, a neutral type of—

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: You also said Uyghurs though, Mr.
Rosenberg. I'm just confused. Your statement now seems to be a bit
different in nature from what you were trying to make a statement
about earlier.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Can I explain?

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: You may explain, but I want you to ex-
plain the difference between your two points here.
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Mr. Morris Rosenberg: 1 will explain that you can have a con-
ference with a benign title, but there's no way.... I know the people
in the Trudeau Foundation, and if they were dealing with the rule of
law, human rights would have come up. The Uyghurs would have
come up. All sorts of stuff would have come up, and it would have
resulted in the same thing. If somebody in China thought it was a
good idea to build the Chinese brand in Canada to pay for these
conferences, | think they were mistaken. I think this would have
come out in a very different way.

The Chair: Thank you very much. That is the time.
We're turning now to Mr. Genuis.

You have the floor for five minutes.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Thanks, Mr. Chair.

I think it's important to start by underlining why we're here. It's
because so much of the public is concerned. We are deeply con-
cerned in the official opposition that the Trudeau Foundation has a
governance problem that led to it being targeted as a means of in-
fluencing the Trudeau government.

It's a matter of public record that the Minister of Industry, as well
as the Trudeau family, had the ability to appoint members to the
foundation, that this foundation is defined as a public institution in
various statutes, and that there was a spike in foreign donations af-
ter the Trudeau government took office. It stretches credibility to
think it was an accident unrelated to the fact that the foundation
shares a name with the person who is Prime Minister, or that the
Prime Minister continues to be listed as a member in the founda-
tion's annual report, though identified as an inactive one.

I particularly want to drill down on the issue of the meeting in
the Prime Minister's Office.

Mr. Rosenberg, you told us there's nothing unusual about this
meeting. Meetings happen in the Prime Minister's Office all the
time. It's no big deal.

I'll let you respond, but “the Prime Minister's Office” is actually
the name of the building. It's called “the Prime Minister's Office”
and a meeting took place there with the Trudeau Foundation. You
said the PCO also has offices and that it's a central downtown loca-
tion. I know the building fairly well. The Prime Minister's Office is
a four-storey building. It includes the Prime Minister's private of-
fice, as well as other offices. The political arm of the PMO uses the
vast majority of that building. There are some offices for PCO, but
the building adjoins the 10-storey Blackburn building, which is,
from what I understand, all PCO offices.

Even if the meeting had to happen somewhere between Sparks
Street and Wellington, you have 10 floors with, presumably, board-
rooms on all of them in the Blackburn building, and you have one
floor used by PCO in the Prime Minister's Office. To say, “Well, all
the boardrooms were taken in the Blackburn building; there was no
space anywhere else in downtown Ottawa, and the only place avail-
able was the PMO,” is just malarkey, isn't it? You must have known
this meeting sent a message, and you must have intended it to send
a message, Sir.

Tell me why none of the boardrooms in the Blackburn building
or anywhere in downtown Ottawa were available, and why you felt
this was the most convenient place to meet.

® (1200)

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: There are a few things [ want to say in
response to your question.

First of all, I believe that, while this building is now called...I'm
not sure what, exactly. Whether it's “the Prime Minister's Office”
or—

Mr. Garnett Genuis: “The Prime Minister's Office” is what it's
called.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: —I think, “the Privy Council Office”—

Mr. Garnett Genuis: It was previously called
Block”, named after Mr. Langevin—

“Langevin

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Yes, but when was that changed?

Mr. Garnett Genuis: It was always “the Prime Minister's Of-
fice”.

The Chair: Mr. Genuis, you're kind of.... Why don't we hear
from Mr. Rosenberg?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I think, at that time.... It was before....
There was an issue around the name of the building. I think it had
something to do with the legacy of Hector Langevin, perhaps in re-
lation to residential schools. I'm not sure. A decision was made to
change the name of the building. I think it may have still been
“Langevin Block” when I was there. That's one.

Two, I worked in PCO. They used two floors. The third floor is
where you have the office of the clerk, the deputy secretary, plans
and the deputy secretary, operations. The national security adviser
is somewhere else. That whole floor is filled with PCO folks. The
fourth floor has two very big boardrooms and a number of smaller
boardrooms that are constantly in use by members of the public ser-
vice.

Third, the genesis of it is this: I spoke to a deputy secretary—I
believe it was of plans. I think he would have said, “I can't organize
a meeting in the PCO.” I would have said, “This is something you
guys might want to know about,” and he would have said, “Okay,
I'll organize the meeting.” Where do the deputy secretaries of plans
organize meetings? They do it in PCO, and they tend to do it in
boardrooms on the fourth floor of the Langevin Block.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: I'm going to jump in, as I have 30 seconds
left.

Those boardrooms are used extensively by the Prime Minister's
own staff, and they have priority for booking those rooms.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Well, that may be true today, but it
wasn't true then.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: That's always been the case. You have 10
floors in Blackburn. Moreover, you have all sorts of other build-
ings.



12 PACP-70

June 12, 2023

Clearly, the public service is not unaware of the fact that, when
meetings take place in the Prime Minister's Office, it sends a mes-
sage. If you want to send a message that this foundation is closely
connected to the Prime Minister and therefore donations to this
foundation are appreciated by the Prime Minister, a great way to
send that message is to have it in the relatively small building that
is called “the Prime Minister's Office”.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Genuis.
There was no question mark there.

Mr. Rosenberg, if you could keep it brief, I will give you....

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I fundamentally disagree with that
view. This is used by the PCO all the time. I don't think it sends any
message, and we were not the only ones to have the opportunity to
go there.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

Ms. Shanahan, you have the time.

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Thank you, Chair. I can see what the
objective is.

This study, by the way, is taking place to look at the Trudeau
Foundation precisely because it was created with $125 million from
the government at the time. I understand that not all of the parties
were in agreement with it, but to see what is happening at this
time—basically, a smear job on the Trudeau Foundation—I think is
very shameful.

I would like to address those meetings at the PCO.

First of all, what is the difference between the PMO and the
PCO, please, very briefly, Mr. Rosenberg?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: It's the public service. It is the Prime
Minister's department, but it is filled with public servants who gen-
erally have worked elsewhere to have a broader experience. They
spend some time at the PCO, and then typically it is a path to more
senior jobs in the public service.

I was the deputy secretary of operations in the PCO before I be-
came the deputy minister of justice, for example. Before that, I was
the assistant secretary of economic and regional development poli-
cy, starting under the Conservatives at the end of the Mulroney and
Kim Campbell regimes.

® (1205)

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Now, you mentioned the Conserva-
tives. Are there any criteria to be a member of one party or the oth-
er to be hired into the PCO?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No. In fact, one of the things, I would
say, that's really interesting is that a lot of the people who became
deputy ministers under the Liberals had been political staff under
the Conservatives, and they're some of the best deputy ministers. [
was always a big believer in hiring political staff. Under both dif-
ferent governments, I hired political staff from the other party.

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Why was that?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: It was because I found that political
staff actually had their feet firmly planted on the ground in terms of
what's practical, in a way that sometimes public servants didn't.

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: That's a very interesting observation.

Can I ask about that meeting in 2016? What was the context in
which the Trudeau Foundation was discussed?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Well, the Trudeau Foundation wasn't
discussed. What was discussed was...it was really the beginning of
a project that was being done jointly with the Centre for Interna-
tional Governance Innovation at Waterloo—CIGI—on whether
there are economic benefits to innovation.

We wanted to get a bit of sharing with the government and also
to have the possibility for these researchers to speak to some policy
folks in the government about their information. There was a study
that was completed about a year later that really looked on a kind of
industry-by-industry basis, because there were real distinctions
from one industry to the other. That study is available online. I
could provide it, but equally, you could find it.

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Thank you, Mr. Rosenberg.

I would like to ask Mr. Flack: I believe you were present at the
time, at that meeting. Indeed, can you speak to that meeting con-
cerning the Trudeau Foundation, if there were any other meetings
about the Trudeau Foundation and what was discussed?

Mr. Graham Flack (Secretary of the Treasury Board of
Canada, As an Individual): I would have been invited to the
meeting as the deputy minister of Canadian heritage, which has,
among other things, a mandate for pluralism. What I remember
about the meeting is that it was a meeting with some academics on
a project on pluralism.

I probably would have gone back to the department and asked
the department if we had eyes on this, because there are many plu-
ralism projects. The department works with the Race Relations
Foundation and the Global Centre for Pluralism.

That's my recollection of the meeting.

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Was there any discussion whatsoever
about dealings with China, favouring China, Chinese academic re-
search or anything of that nature of any kind?

Mr. Graham Flack: I have no recollection of anything like that.
What I recall is an academic project on pluralism, not unlike the
ones we did with the Global Centre for Pluralism in Canada. The
meeting was seven years ago. | think I would have remembered if
there were something about China, but I don't have any recollection
of anything like that. It was more a kind of standard academic con-
ference that we were being made aware of and that the department
had an interest in.

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Very good, and I'd like to direct a
question to Mr. Knubley, then, concerning Industry Canada.
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What is the mandate of Industry Canada vis-a-vis the Trudeau
Foundation?

Mr. John Knubley: As I mentioned in my introductory remarks,
the Trudeau Foundation is part of a portfolio of agencies in the de-
partment. Other agencies would include the Business Development
Bank of Canada, the National Research Council, Space Agency
Canada and the granting councils. It's a broad range of different
types of organizations.

In the case of the Trudeau Foundation—

The Chair: I'm afraid you are over the time. That finishes our
second round.

Going back to Mr. Genuis, you have the floor for five minutes,
please.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Thank you, Chair.

What's striking to me is that someone who has had such senior
roles in the public service would think the public and this commit-
tee are such utter fools as to believe there was an interesting discus-
sion about pluralism and economic growth. It was sort of an aca-
demic, open-ended, thought-provoking discussion, and it just hap-
pened to involve six deputy ministers and take place in the Prime
Minister's Office.

There are a lot of think tanks in this country that are doing great
work, and probably more sophisticated work on these issues than
the Trudeau Foundation that aren't able to get six deputy ministers
together in the Prime Minister's Office. The fact that nobody
thought it was sending a message about anything to anyone is so
bizarre that I'm surprised we are hearing that as testimony.

I want to move back to the very serious issue of sexual assault
and harassment allegations against people connected with the foun-
dation. My colleague, Mr. Brock, was raising these issues before a
Liberal MP tried to shut him down on a point of order, and it is
striking that Liberals don't want to hear these questions. They talk a
lot about feminism and holding people accountable, but they didn't
even want to let Mr. Brock finish his line of questioning on this, so
I want to pick this up.

Mr. Rosenberg, in the case involving Cherry Smiley, did you tes-
tify in February in support of the Trudeau Foundation's desire to
move that case to Montreal?

® (1210)

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I testified in February, but not in sup-
port. I was asked to testify by their lawyers, but my testimony
was—

Mr. Garnett Genuis: You were asked by which lawyers?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: 1 was asked by the foundation's
lawyers, but my testimony, if I recall it, was simply around factual
issues as to where, for example, I would have signed the scholar-
ship agreement for Ms. Smiley, where Ms. Smiley went to school,
and where the events took place, which was Newfoundland. I just
gave factual testimony. I wasn't advocating for anybody.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Naturally, as a witness, your role wasn't to
advocate, but is it reasonable to presume that, if the foundation's
lawyers asked you to testify, they thought the testimony you pro-

vided would be useful to their desire to move the location of the
case to Quebec?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Yes, I assume that's why they wanted
me to. I'm not sure they would have found my testimony necessari-
ly all that helpful.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: All right. Do you think the way Ms. Smi-
ley has been treated by the foundation has been appropriate?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I can't say. I don't know, because I
wasn't there. Most of this, as I understand it—the statement of
claim—deals with issues post the time that I left the foundation.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Okay, but they repeatedly sought a change
of venue. Just on the face of that.... I can't speak to the particular
facts of her claim, but the repeated efforts to move the venue to a
place where these events didn't occur and that was least convenient
for her.... Would you suggest that is not a great way of affirming the
importance of survivors' coming forward and telling their stories?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Mr. Genuis, I am not going to opine on
people's strategy in handling litigation.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: My next question is about a structural is-
sue for the foundation around legal issues like this. Who pays for
the litigation that occurs? Where does the money come from that
the foundation uses, specifically for that litigation?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I guess it's from administrative budgets
of the foundation.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Is that donor money? Is that money inter-
est on the endowment?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I don't think it's donor money, but I'm
not sure, frankly. You could ask the foundation what the accounting
is on that.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: [ want to switch quickly to Mr. Knubley in
the time I have.

The Minister of Industry is responsible for appointing directors
to the Trudeau Foundation. Could you share a bit about the process
that you follow when you're deputy minister at Industry regarding
appointments to the Trudeau Foundation?

Mr. John Knubley: I have several comments here.

First, I believe there were changes, and I was briefed on this in
2013 regarding the role of the minister in terms of appointments. In
2013, under the Harper government, the foundation actually
changed the appointment process in recognition of the fact that
ministers would not appoint directors. The change, as I understood
it, although perhaps—

Mr. Garnett Genuis: I'm sorry, but I am almost out of time.
I may have misspoken. It's appointing “members” to the founda-

tion. The minister, according to the latest annual report, retains the
power to appoint members to the foundation.

Are you aware of that, and can you tell us about the process by
which the minister makes these decisions?
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Mr. John Knubley: That is the case, that it is members.

I never participated in any appointment. As I understood it—I
believe I am correct on this, although I am working again from my
memory—no appointments were ever made by ministers Paradis,
Moore or Bains.

® (1215)
The Chair: Thank you very much.

Mr. Fragiskatos, you have the floor for five minutes.

Mr. Peter Fragiskatos (London North Centre, Lib.): Thank
you, Chair.

Mr. Rosenberg—

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Could I take just 30 seconds of your
time to answer an issue that Mr. Genuis raised?

Mr. Peter Fragiskatos: Sure.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: He said there were six DMs who went
to this meeting. They're all here. I think the only DM who went to
this meeting—it was not six, first of all—was Mr. Flack. I don't be-
lieve Mr. Jean was there. I don't believe Ms. Biguzs was there, and
I don't believe that Mr. Knubley was there.

As far as the clout of the foundation to get deputy ministers to
come to meetings, I'll tell you, if I had been a deputy minister and
got that invitation, I probably wouldn't have gone either. Deputies
are busy people. They tend to send people who are lower down in
the organization.

I'm sorry, but I just wanted to make that point.

Mr. Peter Fragiskatos: Thank you for that clarification, Mr.
Rosenberg.

We're well over an hour into this meeting. There have been a
number of exchanges, and much has been said. I want to give you
the chance to leave us with two or three key points that you want us
to take away as members of this committee, which from your per-
spective are crucial to this entire issue.

Let's go back to basics, if I can put it that way.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: If we're talking about the entire issue,
are we talking about the donation? I have a few things to say about
that.

Mr. Peter Fragiskatos: [ mean with regard to the key points you
want to leave us with. I leave that in your hands.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: There are a couple of things that I
would reiterate.

The donation bought no influence. We never thought that
a $200,000 donation would influence any government, as I said.

As for using the foundation to spread a pro-China message, that
donation likely would have resulted in conferences that were not
what the Chinese wanted to hear, as I already said. I think that's a
key message. It goes to our motivation in terms of having thought
this was not something we needed to be concerned about. We didn't
see how this was actually going to influence us. Frankly, the idea
that $200,000 is going to influence any government, I think is ab-
surd, but other people have different views.

Second, in terms of whatever happened with the receipting, it is
so much against the interest of the Trudeau Foundation to do any-
thing that would jeopardize its charitable status. Either we did it
right...and if we didn't do it right, then the CRA should tell us we
didn't do it right. However, as far as we were concerned, this dona-
tion was made by a company and the receipt went to the company.

I've already talked about the discrepancy between the annual re-
ports and the receipts.

Our motivation in this, in dealing with the folks we were dealing
with, is that they were known quantities. They had donated to the
University of Toronto. They had been dealing with the University
of Montreal for a long time. It was the U of M that brought us into
this, and we didn't think there was.... The Canadian ambassador in
China was the one who introduced the University of Montreal to
Mr. Zhang.

We thought, from a due diligence point of view, that we had done
our due diligence. This was a donation that accorded with our prior-
ities and allowed us and our scholars to learn about probably the
biggest geopolitical issue over the past 30 years, which is the rise of
China and its implications.

Mr. Peter Fragiskatos: Mr. Rosenberg, the efforts made by
Conservative politicians continue in terms of trying to paint the or-
ganization as some type of conduit through which China was trying
to gain influence over the Canadian government.

I have not seen, and I don't think any member of this committee
or any parliamentarian has seen, evidence in that direction at all.
However, perception, as you well know, is everything, not just in
politics but in terms of how the public perceives and looks at these
issues.

We heard from you today, and we heard from Mr. Johnson the
other day, about the very good work that the foundation has done in
terms of supporting students and research. Do you think the foun-
dation will survive?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I hope it survives.

I think this is a very fraught time for the foundation. I think, in
dealing with the resignation of a president and the resignation of
several board members, they have some work to do.

It's why, in answering Mr. Desjarlais's question earlier, I really
hope we can clarify this. There have been a lot of allegations made;
there's a lot of smoke there. I honestly believe that the foundation
was operating in good faith and that it wasn't influenced, but I do
understand that there are public perceptions out there.

The foundation cannot wait two or three years to have this clari-
fied. It needs a quicker resolution.
® (1220)

Mr. Peter Fragiskatos: Thank you very much.

The Chair: Thank you.

[Translation)

Ms. Sinclair-Desgagné, go ahead. You have two and a half min-
utes.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Thank you, Mr. Chair.
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I want to continue along the same lines as before, Mr. Rosenberg.

We were talking about how your employees reportedly did some-
thing that could have cost the Pierre Elliott Trudeau Foundation its
charitable status under the Canada Revenue Agency Act.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I didn't say that.
Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: No, I did.
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I don't necessarily agree.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: You don't agree with the fact
that the foundation wasn't allowed to take donations from one per-
son and issue the tax receipt to a company.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: The company made the donation, so the
tax receipt was issued in the company's name. If there is any confu-
sion about that, an independent person or the CRA should look into
the matter.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: I'm asking you, Mr. Rosen-
berg.

Mr. Johnson told us that he would send us the documents, includ-
ing the bank statements showing that the donations were received
and the amounts of the donations, as well as the tax receipts. If you
could push to have those documents provided to the committee as
soon as possible, it may give the committee some clarity on what
took place.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: That is the responsibility of Mr. John-
son, the chair of the foundation's board. I don't have access to the
foundation's documents.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Yes, | understand that. You
agree, at least, that the committee should be able to see them.

I repeat, here's what we've found: the donations received by the
foundation were made by specific donors in China, but the tax re-
ceipt was issued to Millennium Golden Eagle International, as per
clear direction from Beijing to staff members of the Pierre Elliott
Trudeau Foundation. At this point, that's what we presume hap-
pened.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: There are two ways to look at it. You
can see it as a conspiracy, or you can see it as common practice.
Unfortunately, 1 think there's a lot of confusion surrounding the
matter, so the documents should be examined and a tax expert
should determine what's what.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Yes.

You can say it's a conspiracy theory if you want, but there's
something called the law, which you are very familiar with as a
lawyer. You are not allowed—

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I'm not a tax lawyer.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: No, but the law clearly states
that the name listed on the tax receipt must be the name of the
donor. It's pretty straightforward. It's says so in black and white.
There's no conspiracy theory here, and for that matter, I would re-
frain from bringing up conspiracy theories given the allegations
against you.

Now—

The Chair: You're out of time, Ms. Sinclair-Desgagné.

[English]

Mr. Desjarlais, you have the floor for two and a half minutes. Go
ahead, please.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair, and
thank you to all the witnesses for being present here.

Mr. Chair, on a point of clarification—and I'm not sure if I can
have my time restored—how many rounds are we having?

The Chair: I think you should get another one after this, Mr.
Desjarlais.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Rosenberg, you mentioned in your answer to some of our
Liberal colleagues the nature of some of your operations, both
when you were the CEO of the Trudeau Foundation and, of course,
when you were deputy minister. You spoke about some of the prac-
tices you engaged in as a deputy minister for the government, in
particular in response to the question of partisanship of Conserva-
tive staff members and Liberal staff members. You mentioned that
there was an aptitude for members of both of those parties to be af-
filiated with the government, even if they weren't part of the gov-
erning party, and that you hired them.

As part of our study here investigating the Trudeau Foundation, I
believe it's important to talk about some of the corporate cultural
practices. As a new member of Parliament, | find there is a great
difference in the cultures of many parties. In particular, I have seen
in the past, this tradition among both Liberals and Conservatives of
having staff members—in particular, partisan staff members—go
between the two and oftentimes between organizations they're also
affiliated with.

During your time as the CEO of the Trudeau Foundation, did you
also employ staff members of the Liberal and/or Conservative par-
ties?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I don't think so, to my knowledge. It's
not that I wouldn't have, but it wouldn't have been because they
were Liberals or Conservatives. As far as I know, the staff at the
foundation was pretty apolitical.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: In terms of your work as a deputy minis-
ter, though, you've identified credibility in that assertion of hiring
staff members from both the Liberals and the Conservatives, so un-
derstanding that—

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: It's a different job. Credibility in the
context of the government—

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Oh, it's not a different job, as a matter of
fact, Mr. Rosenberg. You just heard testimony today—and you're in
Parliament right now—regarding an investigation of foreign inter-
ference and the participation of the Pierre Elliott Trudeau Founda-
tion.

Mr. Rosenberg, it's not out of the question or unreasonable to ask
why or how members of the Pierre Elliott Trudeau Foundation and
members of these parties are connected. To say they're apolitical,
especially when you've just given testimony to the fact that, as a
deputy minister, you did that....
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Mr. Rosenberg, let me ask again, and I hope you can see how se-
rious this is. I know you're smiling right now, but I need to have the
credibility of your remarks to understand how the Trudeau Founda-
tion and its culture and the connection it has with Canadian parti-
sanship to the point that foreign interference could exist.... I need
you to answer the question. If you don't know—

® (1225)

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Desjarlais. I'm going to let Mr.
Rosenberg provide an answer.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I'm not even sure of the question. Are
you asking me whether staff at the foundation were politically affil-
iated? The answer, as far as I know, is no.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you very much.

Mr. Kram, you have the floor for five minutes.
Mr. Kelly McCauley (Edmonton West, CPC): It's me.
The Chair: Oh, I'm sorry, Mr. McCauley.

You have the floor for five minutes, Mr. McCauley. Pardon me.

Mr. Kelly McCauley: Thanks, Mr. Chair, and thanks, witnesses,
for being with us today.

I want to chat quickly, Mr. Rosenberg, to follow up on Mr. Des-
jarlais's comments about the partisanship. Besides Chuck Strahl,
how many known Conservatives are you aware of who worked for
the foundation or were members?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Michael Fortier was a mentor. The orig-
inal board had Bill Davis on it. I'd have to go back to look. There
were also NDP members on it.

Mr. Kelly McCauley: It's pretty minimal, comparatively. I think
what I'm saying is that I don't think anyone considers.... Well,
there's no one from the Bloc, but I don't think anyone will look at
the foundation and say that it's purely a non-partisan one.

I want to get back to the original donation. When the $140,000—
two payments of $70,000—came through, the foundation was
aware that some of it was coming directly from mainland China,
was it not?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No, the foundation was aware that the
cheque, or whatever it was, was deposited into the Bank of Montre-
al by a Canadian corporation, Millennium Golden Eagle Interna-
tional (Canada) Inc.

Mr. Kelly McCauley: No one was aware there was any link to
mainland China or the PRC.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: If anyone.... I think the people who
were looking at the—

Mr. Kelly McCauley: I guess my next question is this: When
was the foundation aware?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: The whole issue of this link to the
PRC.... We knew we were dealing with Chinese individuals, but we
also knew that the...and this is where all the confusion comes in.
My understanding is that people sometimes use corporations to
make donations for them. People control corporations, and they'll
decide, for whatever reason, to use the corporation.

Mr. Kelly McCauley: I recognize that. Was there no suspicion,
no hesitation or feeling that this really doesn't...?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: You know, we weren't suspicious. I
guess that was partly because we didn't think there was anything to
this that was asking us to do anything untoward. As I said, we basi-
cally had free run with what we were going to do with this money.

Mr. Kelly McCauley: No one was stepping forward before then,
though, saying, “Here's $140,000. Send the receipt off to China.” It
didn't happen until after....

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: It didn't really get picked up. If you
look at the documents that are there, you will see that there's corre-
spondence between two employees in the foundation without ever
ccing me or even the executive director.

Mr. Kelly McCauley: At any time in your four years, did you
have a feeling that maybe this didn't smell right?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: 1 didn't, because of the nature of how
we were introduced to these folks, their antecedence in having do-
nated to the University of Toronto, the fact that our ambassador
knew them, and the fact that these conferences.... The only right
they had was that the conferences would bear their names. The con-
tent of the conferences was not up to them.

Mr. Kelly McCauley: Looking back, do you think you were
naive or perhaps wilfully blind to this?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: You know, I don't think so.

I know there are different.... People have said that there are per-
ceptions out there. I appreciate that, and I feel bad about it because
I think the foundation has been so tarred by this. However, in the
grander scheme of things, with all the things we were doing, this
was not a huge deal within the foundation. We were in the process
of putting on these major conferences. Most of our energy was go-
ing into that and not into thinking through this.

There was a ceremony, and it was unusual to have a ceremony,
but it was the Université de Montréal that wanted to have the cere-
mony, and we decided it would be appropriate that Alexandre
Trudeau be there. It was just a slightly different way of doing
things.

® (1230)

Mr. Kelly McCauley: In your tenure, were there any CRA au-
dits done—as a charity?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I believe so, and I think the CRA actu-
ally answered that when it was here.

Mr. Kelly McCauley: No, it didn't. It was quite clear about not
answering anything.

Commissioner Hamilton, if you're watching right now, that's di-
rected at you.

You mentioned about the quote.... You said you wouldn't jeopar-
dize the charitable status. Looking back, obviously there's the dona-
tion. However, there are also the CNCA requirements, which ap-
parently were not done for years, as well as the disbursement obli-
gations, which apparently were not done. Are these, perhaps, due to
a disagreement in how the accounting should have been done?
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Mr. Morris Rosenberg: As far as [ know, the disbursement obli-
gations.... Is it the percentage you're talking about there? When I
was there, I believe we complied.

Mr. Kelly McCauley: I'm not trying to be difficult, but—

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I'm pretty sure, but I can't say “definite-
ly”, because I don't have the documents.

The Chair: Thank you very much.
We're turning now to Ms. Bradford.

You have the floor for five minutes.

Ms. Valerie Bradford (Kitchener South—Hespeler, Lib.):
Thank you, Mr. Chair, and thank you to all of the witnesses for giv-
ing up your time today to appear before our committee.

Since a lot of the focus has been on Mr. Rosenberg, I want to
make it worthwhile for some of the other witnesses who are appear-
ing before us today.

Ms. Biguzs, you're retired from the federal public service. There
hasn't been a lot of reference to that today, but their involvement....
When did you retire?

Ms. Anita Biguzs (As an Individual): I retired in June 2016.

Ms. Valerie Bradford: What was your role in the federal public
service?

Ms. Anita Biguzs: My last position was as the deputy minister
of immigration. | believe that is why I was invited to appear as a
witness to this committee meeting today.

I had a 35-plus-year career in the federal public service, working
in a number of different departments but also two central agencies,
including the Privy Council Office and the Treasury Board Secre-
tariat.

Ms. Valerie Bradford: Did you have any involvement with the
Pierre Elliott Trudeau Foundation in your work?

Ms. Anita Biguzs: No, I did not.

Ms. Valerie Bradford: Okay, so you were probably somewhat
confused as to why you were asked to attend.

Ms. Anita Biguzs: My understanding, when I received the invi-
tation from the clerk, is that it was in relation to a meeting that took
place in April 2016, two months before my retirement, and that my
department or I had been included in that invitation for the April
2016 meeting. It was a meeting that took place seven years ago, and
I do not recall, to the best of my knowledge, whether I even attend-
ed the meeting. It may have been something I delegated. Because 1
don't have access to documents or agendas.... I verified with former
colleagues in my office—my chief of staff and associate deputy—
regarding whether they could recall my attending the meeting or
whether it was delegated.

To the best of my knowledge, I have no real knowledge of the
meeting itself.

Ms. Valerie Bradford: Thank you for that.

Turning to Mr. Flack, what role does the PCO play in facilitating

conversations between departments and organizations seeking re-
search and other post-secondary funding?

Mr. Graham Flack: Normally, it wouldn't be the Privy Council
Office playing a role in trying to seek funding for the organizations
or facilitating that. I'd say the PCO role, particularly in the plans
role—the deputy secretary, plans—would be on major issues con-
fronting the country. It would be common practice to bring together
external players—it could be from the business community or the
academic community—to have a discussion with senior officials
around those issues.

Ms. Valerie Bradford: You didn't have any involvement in fa-
cilitating the meeting that happened in 2016.

Mr. Graham Flack: It would have been the Privy Council Of-
fice that set up the meeting.

Ms. Valerie Bradford: Mr. Knubley, how do departments work
with organizations like the Trudeau Foundation to provide post-sec-
ondary funding for research and other use?

Mr. John Knubley: I'm sorry. Can you ask that again?

Ms. Valerie Bradford: How do departments work with organi-
zations like the Trudeau Foundation to provide post-secondary
funding for research and other use?

Mr. John Knubley: I'm not sure I know the answer to that ques-
tion.

What I can speak to is this: There is a relationship between the
industry department, or ISED, and the Trudeau Foundation. They
are part of the portfolio of agencies—there are many—in the de-
partment. Other departments, such as Heritage, for example, have
large portfolios like ISED's. In the case of the Trudeau Foundation,
they are obviously part of it because they are promoting scholarship
and excellence in academic activity, which is a focus of, as [ men-
tioned in my remarks, the science sector in the department.

There is a conditional agreement between the department and the
foundation that specifies some of the issues to be discussed. The
main one, which has been mentioned, is this issue of ensuring that
the Trudeau Foundation spends only interest on its activities.
® (1235)

Ms. Valerie Bradford: Thank you for that.

Mr. Rosenberg, I don't want to ignore you completely.

During your time working with the foundation, did you witness
any attempts to seek political patronage or influence through any
donations to the foundation?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No.
The Chair: That is your time, Ms. Bradford.

We're going to try to get through one more round.

Mr. Kram, I believe you have the floor for five minutes, please.

Mr. Michael Kram (Regina—Wascana, CPC): Thank you
very much, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Rosenberg, you were named president and CEO of the foun-
dation in 2014, and then in October 2015 you found yourself with
the foundation having the same last name as the new Prime Minis-
ter. Can you share with the committee any steps or safeguards that
you put in place to limit any donations that could be or at least
could be perceived to be a conflict of interest?
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Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Well, first of all, Mr. Trudeau had not
had any dealings with the foundation since before I became the
president, and there was a letter from him that I believe came in
December 2014, saying that he essentially recused himself. It kind
of created almost like a blind trust. He wouldn't be involved for the
rest of his time in politics.

There were no specific policies put in place, if that's what you
want to know, but as his brother said when he testified at the access
to information committee, we were very mindful of not doing any-
thing with him. Even his own brother was very mindful of that.

Mr. Michael Kram: Okay, but there are two directors of the
foundation who are appointed by the Trudeau family. Is that cor-
rect?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: That's the structure that was put in
place when the foundation was set up and when the funding agree-
ment was put in place.

Mr. Michael Kram: You said earlier that you did not think that a
donation of $200,000 or a donation of $160,000 could be used to
buy influence. Are there any limits to donations to the Trudeau
Foundation?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I don't think we ever got a donation that
would have tested that.

The biggest donation we ever got was from the McCall MacBain
Foundation. As I said, John McCall MacBain, who is probably one
of the leading philanthropists in Canada, gave $200 million to
McGill, gave $100 million to Oxford and gave us $3 million. That's
by far, many orders of magnitude bigger than anything else we'd
ever gotten.

Mr. Michael Kram: Okay. Do you know what the limits are for
donating to a politician's election campaign?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No, I don't.

Mr. Michael Kram: It's less than $2,000 in this country, so I'm a
bit surprised that you could imply that $200,000 would not be sig-
nificant enough to buy influence in the Canadian political system,
given that when the MPs around this table are running for re-elec-
tion we cannot accept.... It's actually less than $2,000.

It's troubling that these checks and balances would not be in
place for the Trudeau Foundation.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: It's kind of apples and oranges, though,
isn't it? There are individual campaign contribution limits for peo-
ple running for office. Two hundred thousand dollars to the
Trudeau Foundation on a base endowment of $125 million that was
growing was not that big a deal.

Mr. Michael Kram: Okay, but if someone wants to do-
nate $200,000 to Justin Trudeau's election campaign and soon finds
out that the contribution limits are less than $2,000, I think it would
be pretty reasonable for someone to go to Google and say, “Well,
what else can I donate to that has the same last name as the Prime
Minister that could be used to purchase influence?” Wouldn't you
agree that the Trudeau Foundation would come up pretty quickly
on a Google search?

® (1240)

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Honestly, I don't think so. I mean, I re-
ally don't think that the $200,000 was going to buy either influence
with us, for all of the reasons I've said, or influence with the gov-
ernment. If you want to look at influence with the government, look
at some of the other bigger deals. Fifteen billion dollars...and I don't
mean to pick on the Harper government, but there were these deals
that were done—

Some hon. members: Oh, oh!

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: [ don't.

The Chair: Order.

An hon. member: It's just a coincidence.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Well, these are facts, okay? If you want

to talk about—

The Chair: Just wait one second, Mr. Rosenberg. I have a point
of order.

Mr. Peter Fragiskatos: Chair, the witness is simply trying to
finish his statement. Can you allow him to do that, in the interests
of decorum?

The Chair: That's what I'm attempting to do.

Mr. Rosenberg, you have the floor. There are 40 seconds left.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: There's so much politicization on this
issue. Some of you guys talk about the Beijing-funded Trudeau
Foundation. It's actually not the Beijing-funded Trudeau Founda-
tion.

I could say the Beijing-funded deal to buy Nexen. I don't know. I
honestly don't think that $200,000 dollars is very significant in the
greater scheme of things.

Mr. Michael Kram: I'll just wrap up a couple of things very
quickly.

Prior to his becoming Prime Minister, there was the ongoing is-
sue of Justin Trudeau's speaking fees at different charitable events.

Did the Trudeau Foundation ever pay Justin Trudeau a speaking
fee to speak at an event?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: It did not, to my knowledge. I'd be very
surprised.

The Chair: That is the time, I'm afraid.
We turn now to Mr. Sidhu online.

You have the floor for five minutes. Go ahead, please.

Mr. Maninder Sidhu: My colleague, Ms. Shanahan, will be tak-
ing the floor.

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Thank you, Chair, and thank you, Mr.
Sidhu.

I'd like to come back to a statement you made earlier, Mr. Rosen-
berg, concerning worrying signs of China's intentions in the 2010s.

Can you expand on that?
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Yes. I'll try to, a little.
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People may remember back to 2010, actually, when the former
head of CSIS made some statements about foreign influence. Some
of that may have been Chinese influence. It created a bit of a hue
and cry. Certainly, the Liberals, who were in opposition at that
time, were very unhappy about that. I think they even had Mr. Fad-
den at committee. Mr. Fadden didn't apologize for those statements.
I think time has proved that he was right. I think the government of
the day did apologize for Mr. Fadden. Mr. Fadden happily went on
to have a very good career. He's very, very astute on matters of na-
tional security.

At that time, I don't think anybody or enough people were taking
it that seriously. Subsequently there were things like this letter to
the China Cultural Industry Association. They were doing a lot of
PR, not just in Canada but all over the world. We were in a period
of warming relations with China. Then a number of things started
to happen. I think people started to realize that they were not play-
ing fair. They were in the World Trade Organization, but they were
actually using every loophole to their advantage.

Trade with China is not necessarily fair trade. There was criti-
cism of some of the agreements that were entered into with China
and concern, for example, that a customs agreement would have
given them too much commercially sensitive information if they
were interested in appropriating some of our information.

I think during the initial period, the concerns were more on the
commercial side, the economic side, and on the dual use of technol-
ogy side. With respect to the potential military uses of technology,
on which you had Canadian universities working in collaboration
with Chinese researchers, it took a while for us to get there. I think
it's only fairly recently that universities have changed their policies
on these things, with the encouragement of the granting councils.

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Mr. Rosenberg, how would you char-
acterize the response of the government at the time? Would you say
that Prime Minister Harper at the time was being naive?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No. Just to prove I'm not biased, I think
everybody at that time was working in what they thought were
Canada's best interests. The whole world was courting China
whether businesses, academic institutions or governments, so when
the Government of Canada entered into a customs agreement and a
foreign investment protection agreement with China, it thought it
was working in the best interests of Canada. When the ambassador
wrote a letter to this cultural organization, he thought he was work-
ing in the best interests of Canada.

Were we naive? I don't know.

® (1245)

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Thank you for that.

I would like to turn to Mr. Jean.

Mr. Jean, you were a national security adviser. Can you talk
about that time and the evolution of the Canadian response?

Mr. Daniel Jean (As an Individual): I'm happy to do so, and [
think I can add some interesting facts.

For example, in 2012, we signed the Foreign Investment Promo-
tion and Protection Agreement with China. We did not ratify it until
2014. It was not a major controversy when it was ratified. Some of

the reasons it wasn't ratified for two years were environmental and
labour concerns, but there was also the whole concern around state-
owned enterprises. When we go back to the Nexen deal, you have
to remember that it forced us to come up with a policy.

In 2014, China—and we attributed it to China—attacked the Na-
tional Research Council. A couple of months later, they were ar-
resting two Canadians in a very arbitrary way, Kevin and Julia Gar-
ratt. They were detained for several months.

Several months later, Prime Minister Harper went to China. He
worked on announcing the economic thing, but at the same time, he
had the tough conversations about some of the things we didn't like
about China. To go back to the NRC cyber-attack, remember that
we attributed it to China the day before Minister John Baird was
meeting with his counterpart in Beijing.

This evolution that Mr. Rosenberg described is very much so. It's
not that they were naive or we're naive. More and more, we real-
ized that under Xi Jinping, we were dealing with a very, very chal-
lenging country.

One very important fact is what Mr. Rosenberg described, what
we call economic security or sensitive technology or research and
all that. We were one of the first countries to start to invest heavily
in protecting this.

With the statistics, when you look at the Investment Canada Act,
the transactions showed that every year, and we were partnered
with other countries, looking at that. It's an evolution.

When I appeared at PROC, I said this is not a switch that is on
and off. It's not that you have no interference and then you have in-
terference overnight. It's something that happens over time.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

I've had members from both the government bench and the offi-
cial opposition signalling to me that the bells are ringing. I'm aware
of this.

Members love throwing points of order at me that aren't points of
order. This is a point of order, so I will raise it now. Anyone could
have raised it at any time.

We have 19 minutes until the vote. If we hear our last four ques-
tioners, that will take 15 minutes. Do I have UC to proceed?

Some hon. members: Agreed.
The Chair: Thank you.

If you don't interrupt me, then I assume we have that, but you
are, of course, free to raise that point of order.
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[Translation]

Ms. Sinclair-Desgagné, you have two and a half minutes. Go
ahead.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Thank you, Mr. Chair.
Let's recap.

According to you, Mr. Rosenberg, the two people who made the
donations—Niu Gensheng and Zhang Bin—didn't speak English
very well. You even had to thank them in Mandarin.

Do you think those two people cared so much about the founda-
tion's scholars and noble mission that they made donations to
Canada through the foundation bearing the name of this former
prime minister? Do you think they made the donations all for the
good of the scholars?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: That's what we thought because that is
what they did with the University of Toronto, in honour of Norman
Bethune.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Just because others do some-
thing wrong does not mean you should too. That's not a good rea-
son.

What you should have done is address the problem and not sign
donation tax receipts that wound up going to another company. I re-
peat, that is not allowed under the Income Tax Act. As the CRA of-
ficials told the public accounts committee when they were here, do-
ing that could cost the foundation its charitable status.

In any case, | have another question for you.

You were the foundation's president and CEO for four years. Do
you think a charitable organization that uses 41% of its funding to
pay its executives is properly allocating its resources to charitable
activities, especially when that average is 14% in Quebec?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I don't have those figures in front of
me.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: I just gave them to you. The
foundation spends 41% as compared with Quebec's average of
14%.

® (1250)

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I don't know. You're referring to an av-
erage. The proportion is higher for some organizations and lower
for others. At this time, I can't say whether it's appropriate in the
case of the Pierre Elliott Trudeau Foundation. When I worked
there, it was a small organization, and I don't know whether that has
changed since I left.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: 1 have just half a minute left,
Mr. Rosenberg, and I have one last question for you. You seem to
be evading the question about compensation, so I'll come back to
the donations.

I'm not sure whether you asked yourself these questions. Al-
though you thought that the two individuals who wanted to make
donations to the foundation were well-intentioned, why didn't you
take a closer look? Wasn't it your job as the foundation's president
and CEO to protect its reputation and make sure that it didn't take

donations from people who were obviously using the Trudeau name
to influence the newly elected Prime Minister?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: You said it was obvious, but I com-
pletely disagree. Given the nature of the donation and the fact that
there were no strings attached to the conferences that were to be
held, we thought it was a good idea—not to mention the fact that
Canada's ambassador in Beijing knew the donor and had introduced
him to Mr. Lefebvre at the Université de Montréal.

The Chair: You're out of time, Ms. Sinclair-Desgagné. Thank
you.

[English]
Mr. Desjarlais, you have the floor for two and a half minutes.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.
I want to address my questions to Mr. Jean.

In relation to your previous testimony and the facts you present-
ed, there's a narrative here. It's the narrative of an experience that
you and many of the witnesses here today have been able to piece
together for us. I think it's an important piece to how we understand
foreign interference, particularly by state actors like China, but
even by other state actors like Russia.

In your experience, Monsieur Jean.... I know you served as intel-
ligence adviser to the Prime Minister during a time when these
policies may have been shifting very quickly. You mentioned the
volatile movement of position. We heard from Mr. Rosenberg about
how even civil society.... The Pierre Elliott Trudeau Foundation
was seeking to get these donations from China and to find ways to
participate in a better relationship. Mr. Rosenberg mentioned, for
example, as the former CEO, that they were witnessing the govern-
ment taking pandas and other items like that to try to build this rela-
tionship.

During your time, and during this kind of narrative, did you see
this as a risk taken seriously enough, at that time, to call for a pub-
lic inquiry then? Do you think that was something Canadians were
even interested in, at that time?

Mr. Daniel Jean: That's something I covered at PROC quite in
depth when I appeared. We were just starting to see signs of con-
cern. We were seeing a lot more signs on the economic security
side. I just spoke about that a few minutes ago, so I'll spare your
time on this.

For example, in the summer of 2015, when I was deputy minister
of foreign affairs, and just a few months before the election, we is-
sued a diplomatic note to all diplomatic missions, advising them
that they should not get involved in elections—knowing the elec-
tion was going to come soon—as per the Vienna Convention. We
were heavily criticized, a bit like Mr. Fadden was in 2010. A few
people criticized us for doing that. They felt it was rude. We were
seeing signs that some people from foreign countries were trying to
intercede at the local level—not to the extent as described in those
leaks you've been seeing, but enough to say that an ounce of pre-
vention is worth....
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We issued that diplomatic release. We did that. We worked very
hard on the economic security side. I spoke to you about that. We
first had an attack on the World Anti-Doping Agency in 2016 in
Canada. Three months later, the same GRU officer carried out the
attack on the U.S. election.

As is often the case in our society, the shiny object is always
what's in the paper. A lot of the attention was on cyber foreign in-
terference. We did a lot of work, and that's what led to a lot of the
mechanisms you're reviewing in your work on this. We did a lot of
work to say that foreign interference may happen in both the cyber
and analog worlds, so you need to be equipped for both.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

Mr. Genuis, you have the floor for five minutes. I will be strict
on the time for your and the government's last question round. Go
ahead.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I think it's important to put on the record that the Harper govern-
ment was extremely cautious on China. After the Nexen deal, they
put additional limitations on investments. Throughout the Harper
years, they were getting pressured by the then opposition Liberals
to be less cautious and more full steam ahead.

I think it's fair to have a discussion about what aspects of those
policies could have been different, but it's not as if there was no
daylight between the Liberal and Conservative positions at the
time. The Conservatives took a very different approach—a much
more cautious approach. When the Liberals came into power, they
were talking about not only free trade with China but also an extra-
dition deal with China. That was after the arbitrary detentions of the
Garratts, Huseyin Celil and others. I'm glad the detention of the
Michaels ended up being a wake-up call. Frankly, it wasn't the
first—nor will it, sadly, be the last—case of arbitrary detention.
This Liberal government, coming into office in 2015, should have
known better.

Mr. Rosenberg, you said something about the ambassador in Chi-
na introducing these donors to the Trudeau Foundation. Could you
share which ambassador that was and when that introduction took
place?

® (1255)

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: First of all, he introduced the donor to
the vice-rector, international, at the University of Montreal. It was
the University of Montreal that approached the Trudeau Founda-
tion.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Which ambassador was that?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Ambassador Guy Saint-Jacques.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Thank you.

We know that donors attended a cash-for-access fundraiser with
Prime Minister Trudeau shortly prior to that donation going for-

ward. Were you aware that those donors had attended a cash-for-ac-
cess Liberal fundraiser?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: | had no idea.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Would it have given you pause if you had
known?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Maybe.
Mr. Garnett Genuis: Okay.

Were there others at the foundation who were aware or should
have been aware—such as the Prime Minister's brother—that these
donors were present at that foundation?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: The Prime Minister's brother testified, I
think, that he and the Prime Minister did not talk about politics, so |
don't think he was aware either. It was—

Mr. Garnett Genuis: If I remember rightly, he was aware of
their attendance—at least he was when he testified.

You're sort of unwilling to commit one way or the other about
whether the fact that these donors attended a cash-for-access
fundraiser right before they gave this money.... You're sort of un-
willing to commit on whether that would have given you pause
or..?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Well, look, we didn't know at the time.
If somebody had told me that that had happened, I think it would
have given me some pause. We certainly would have done further
investigation. I'm not saying it would have scuttled the whole thing.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Knowing what you know now, it does
look like this was oriented towards trying to have an influence. Is
that correct?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I'm sorry. I'm not going to agree with
you on that, and I'll tell you why—

Mr. Garnett Genuis: They attend this fundraiser and then they
give the donation shortly afterwards.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: —because this donation had been nego-
tiated long before this fundraiser.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: It was finalized—

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: It was ready to be announced in
September 2015. It wasn't, because of a technical issue with the
University of Montreal part of this, so [—

Mr. Garnett Genuis: There are just a lot of technical issues and
convenience, aren't there, like the shortage of boardrooms in Black-
burn, like it just so happened he was at this fundraiser before and it
was a convenient time to finalize the donation afterwards? 1 don't
think this is remotely credible.

In the time I have left, [ want to go back to Mr. Knubley.

1 was interested in the fact that you went from being a deputy
minister to working for McKinsey, so I want to ask if there was a
cooling-off period between your time in government and your time
with McKinsey, and also if McKinsey has ever done work for the
Trudeau Foundation.

Mr. John Knubley: Sorry, on the latter point, I have no idea. [
have no knowledge of what McKinsey has done with the Trudeau
Foundation, and it's inappropriate to speak of clients.

I think I'll start with a statement that I've followed with since
leaving government—
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Mr. Garnett Genuis: I'm sorry. It would be appropriate to speak
of it, since you've been asked in a parliamentary committee. If you
don't know, you don't know, but you do need to answer the question
if you do.

Mr. John Knubley: I just said that I don't know.
Mr. Garnett Genuis: Okay. Thank you.

Mr. John Knubley: Then I was about to say that I followed all
of the governing rules related to the Lobbying Act and the Federal
Accountability Act, as required, in all my consulting activities. I
joined McKinsey as a senior adviser in September 2020, which was
more than one year after I left government in 2019. That is a re-
quirement. I cannot—

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Did you advise them on how to get busi-
ness with the Government of Canada, sir?

® (1300)
The Chair: That is your time, I'm afraid.

I'm turning now to our last questioner.

Mr. John Knubley: No, I did not, and I want to say that I spent
5% of my consulting time working with McKinsey and—

The Chair: Ms. Yip, I believe you have the last five minutes,
please.

Mr. John Knubley: —the reason I left McKinsey in September
2022 was that—

The Chair: Mr. Knubley, we've moved on now. Thank you very
much.

Ms. Yip has the floor for five minutes.

Thank you.

Ms. Jean Yip: Mr. Knubley, if you want to finish your sentence,
please go ahead.

Mr. John Knubley: Yes, I just want to say two things.

One is that in my consulting work as a senior adviser, about 5%
of my work time was with McKinsey, and I left because there was
no work.

Ms. Jean Yip: Thank you. I would now like to turn back to what
we are studying.

Mr. Rosenberg, we have heard from Edward Johnson about the
governance measures in place at the foundation. Could you tell us
the procedures in place during your time, and if there were any red
flags raised by accountants or auditors regarding the donations?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: As far as I know, I think Pricewater-

houseCoopers was the auditor of the foundation, and I don't recall
there ever being a red flag about it.

Ms. Jean Yip: You mentioned you were aware of a forensic au-
dit being done. What would such an audit reveal?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I'm aware that....This is all based on
what I heard here, from Mr. Johnson, so you may know as much as
I do about that. I think you're better to ask Mr. Johnson about the
content of that...or ask the forensic auditors themselves.

Ms. Jean Yip: You mentioned today that the foundation's issues
needed to be reviewed very quickly. Can you elaborate on what the
impact would be if those were not attended to quickly?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Well, I'm concerned at this point. The
foundation needs to find a new president, and I think it will be chal-
lenging to find a new president until these issues are clarified. I
think the same is true with respect to finding new board members.
That's why I think it has to be done quickly. Like Mr. Johnson, I
would hate to see the good work of the foundation—because I think
it has done some fabulous work over the past 20 years—not be able
to continue because of this.

Ms. Jean Yip: It would certainly impact the recipients.
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Absolutely.

Ms. Jean Yip: What are some other ways Canadians can support
the foundation?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Maybe I'll turn it around and say that
there are ways that the foundation can support Canadians, and |
have talked about this a bit. The foundation, under my time and I
think, to some extent, under Madame Fournier's time as well, has
done much more in getting its members out into communities, not
only familiarizing themselves with what is actually going on but al-
so familiarizing Canadians with the work of the foundation and al-
lowing some young people, who otherwise might never have
thought of it, the opportunity to dream that maybe they could do
something like this too.

Ms. Jean Yip: Since we're near the end here, are there any other
remarks or comments that you would like to make?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No. I think I've said enough.

Ms. Jean Yip: Thank you very much.

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Yip, for yielding your time. That
will give members a few more seconds to get to the votes.

I want to thank all the witnesses for appearing today and for re-
sponding to the committee's request that you attend, and thanks to
Mr. Rosenberg in particular for all the questions you answered to-
day.

On that, I will adjourn the meeting.

We'll see you all Thursday.
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